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	Town/City:  	Gloucester

	Place: (neighborhood or village):
		West Gloucester (Stage Fort Park Area)

	Address: 	211 Western Avenue	

	Historic Name:  	Parsons School

	Uses:	Present: 	Girl Scout meeting hall

	Original: 	school house

	Date of Construction:  	1850-1851

	Source:  	historic maps

	Style/Form:   	Italianate

	Architect/Builder:  not identified 
                                 (possibly Gridley J. F. Bryant)

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  	granite block

	Wall/Trim:  	clapboard/wood

	Roof:  	asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  
		   none

	Major Alterations (with dates):  
Entrance portico (late 20th century)


	Condition:  fair to good

	[bookmark: Check3]Moved:  no |X| 	yes |_|     Date:	

	Acreage:  	0.11

	Setting:   On a slight rise above the main thoroughfare of Western Avenue (Route 127), which is lined with dense residential development.  Near Stage Fort Park and Washington Cemetery on the opposite side of the road.  	
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Follow Massachusetts Historical Commission Survey Manual instructions for completing this form.


|X| Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  
	If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.


Use as much space as necessary to complete the following entries, allowing text to flow onto additional continuation sheets.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION:    
Describe architectural features.  Evaluate the characteristics of this building in terms of other buildings within the community.	

Parsons School occupies a small, rectangular lot of land along the main thoroughfare of Western Avenue, a short distance south of its intersection with Old Salem Road and across from a large public open space known as Stage Fort Park.  Maintained chiefly in lawn, the site slopes up from Western Avenue, with various styles of stone wall construction lining the sides and rear of the property. Shrubs and trees also surround the property on three sides.  The building is centered side-to-side on the lot, and is positioned near the rear property line. The front setback contains a low retaining wall that is comprised of one course of granite blocks above a low, poured-concrete base.  Informal granite block steps at the north end of the lot lead to an asphalt- and gravel-paved path to the main building entrance.  The building consists of a rectangular main block with a front entrance portico facing Western Avenue.

The modest rectangular volume of the Parsons School measures 30 feet wide by 38 feet deep, with a 10 foot wide by 6 foot deep entrance portico.  The wood frame building rises one story from a granite block foundation to a front gable roof that is clad with asphalt shingles; there are no gable returns.   Widely spaced, plain modillion blocks ornament the raking eaves on the façade (east) elevation.  A small brick chimney rises near the front of the south roof slope.  Walls are clad with wood clapboards and flat wood trim, including corner boards, fascia boards, and a sill board at the façade and east ends of the side elevations.   Windows have 6/6 double-hung wood sash and boldly projecting sills.  On the side and rear elevations, these openings are trimmed with a wide molded casing.

The façade (east) elevation has a center entrance portico flanked by one window on each side.  A circular wood plaque in the gable peak has small keystones at the four compass points and displays Girl Scout insignia.  The center doorway features an arched opening with a glazed fanlight, wide molded trim with a large keystone in the center, and a modern 6-panel door.  The gabled entrance portico is supported by heavy, sawn wood brackets at the wall surface and modern, square wood posts on the outer face; the tympanum is sheathed with vertical wood boards.  The portico landing has a wood floor surmounting a granite block base.  A set of poured concrete steps with plain pipe railings is located on each side of the landing; granite curbs extend north and south from the base of the steps.  The windows flanking the doorway are trimmed with a flat casing and a projecting cornice molding with a small, simple carved bracket at each end.   

Roughly symmetrical, the side and back (west) elevations each have two widely spaced openings.  The south and back elevations each contain two windows, while the north elevation has a window towards the front of the building and a solid flush door with a flat casing in the rear bay.  

Although minor repairs are needed, the Parsons School is extraordinarily intact and a rare example of wood-frame, mid 19th century civic architecture in Gloucester.  The building is notable for its setting outside of the downtown area, its front gable form with decorated eaves, carefully detailed entrance with arched doorway and flanking brackets, and variety of original window trim.  The most significant alteration is the front entrance portico, which appears to have replaced an Italianate door hood.


HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    
Discuss the history of the building.  Explain its associations with local (or state) history.  Include uses of the building, and the role(s) the owners/occupants played within the community. 

Western Avenue is a coastal roadway constructed in the second quarter of the 19th century between the harbor village (Central Gloucester) on the northeast and Freshwater Cove village on the southwest.  A small settlement developed by 1851 at Steep Bank Cove, between Stage Head and Fort Point; this cove was later known as the Western Harbor section of Gloucester Harbor, distinct from the Inner Harbor bordered by the central village and East Gloucester.  Alfred Cressy and John W. Bray of Gloucester sold land for Parsons School to the town of Gloucester in 1850 for $175.  Through the turn of the 20th century, Bray’s estate held, jointly with Cressy, much of the land surrounding Parsons School, including Bray’s pasture to the south.  The school lot bordered holdings formerly owned by Gloucester mariner Nehemiah Parsons, for whom the school may have been named [Essex South deeds, 431:113; maps and atlases].

One of eight schoolhouses built in Gloucester between 1850 and 1852, this building was known as Parsons School by 1860, at which time Ann M. Woodbury served as principal.  Gloucester established its first school in 1698, and adopted a system of eleven school districts in 1804.  School operations expanded to twenty-three districts by 1840, when seven districts at Sandy Bay were set off as part of the new town of Rockport.  Gloucester launched a reorganization of its district system in 1849, including improvement of school facilities and construction of at least eight new schoolhouses from 1850 to 1852, among them Parsons School.  At least two other district schools from this period survive:  the one-story Bray School, 35 Concord Street, West Gloucester (1852, GLO.1068), and the 2½-story old Forbes School – Gloucester G. A. R. Hall, 47 Washington Street, Central Gloucester (ca. 1850, GLO.417, NRDIS 1982).  Another school, the Blynman School, 46 Magnolia Avenue (ca. 1892, GLO.112), replaces an 1850 school building on the same site.  Additional schools from the 1850-1852 improvement era were built on Washington Street, Elm Street, Reynard Street, and Plum Street (East Gloucester) [Babson, 553-554; Pringle, 306-308; Public Property; MACRIS].  

Boston architect Gridley J. F. Bryant, who went on to design Gloucester Town Hall (now City Hall), 9 Dale Avenue (ca. 1869-1871, GLO.315, NR, LHD, PR), reportedly designed a series of district school buildings for Gloucester, among them the old Forbes School (see above).  Bryant’s recent biography provides a lengthy list of commissions, which does not include the Gloucester schoolhouses [Reed].  Further research would be needed to determine whether Bryant was involved in the design of Parsons School.  

Gloucester continued to maintain twenty-three schoolhouses in 1870, reflecting a population that had nearly doubled since 1850.  Population increased 45% between 1865 and 1870 alone, with an influx of largely Irish, Portuguese, and Canadian immigrants, leading to Gloucester’s incorporation as a city in 1873.  During this time, commercial activity tied to foreign trade gave way to Gloucester-based fisheries, with tremendous growth in the number of wharves and warehouses developed along Gloucester Harbor, and a concomitant increase in the housing built for fishing industry workers [Essex County History and Directory, 55; GLO.AH].

Parsons School was one of Gloucester’s “mixed schools” in 1882, apparently combining grammar and primary students in the same building. (Primary schools typically educated children from 5 to 9 years old, while grammar schools trained children from 10 to 14 years old.)  The city then had one high school, eight grammar schools, twelve primary schools, and four mixed schools.  Ada B. Berry was principal of Parsons School at that time. The other three mixed schools were Bray School, 35 Concord Street (1852, GLO.1068), Haskell School on Sumner Street (1862), and Blynman School, 46 Magnolia Avenue (present school building ca. 1892, GLO.1120).  Parsons School remained a mixed school into the 20th century, perhaps due to its location between concentrated centers of settlement.  Mildred V. S. Lee was the last principal of Parsons School, which closed between 1948 and 1951.  She had been a teacher at Parsons School as early as 1913, residing during that time on Beacon Street at the harbor village.

The City of Gloucester conveyed the property in 1957 to the Cape Ann Girl Scout Council, based in Gloucester, and the building continues to be associated with Girl Scout councils in Essex County [Essex County South deeds, 5174:599].
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Photo 2.  Façade (east) elevation and retaining walls at street edge.
	









[Delete this page if no Criteria Statement is prepared]

                       National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form



Check all that apply:

[bookmark: Check2]|_|  Individually eligible            |_|   Eligible only in a historic district

[bookmark: Check4]|_|  Contributing to a potential historic district         |_|  Potential historic district



[bookmark: Check5][bookmark: Check6][bookmark: Check7][bookmark: Check8]Criteria:      |_|   A       |_|    B       |_|    C    |_|    D

[bookmark: Check9][bookmark: Check10][bookmark: Check11][bookmark: Check12][bookmark: Check13][bookmark: Check14][bookmark: Check15]Criteria Considerations:      |_|   A     |_|    B     |_|   C    |_|   D     |_|    E     |_|    F      |_|    G


                   Statement of Significance by Kathleen K. Broomer and Wendy Frontiero
                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
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